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Disclaimer 

The information in this document is provided as is and no guarantee or warranty is given that the 

information is fit for any particular purpose. The user thereof uses the information at its sole risk and 

liability. The document reflects only the author’s views and the Community is not liable for any use 
that may be made of the information contained therein.  
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

Within the LAUNCH project, the task given and described in this report, was to 

create a standardized EU-wide contract to be used by practitioners, suitable for “off-
balance sheet” treatment, easily financeable by banks and investors, whilst leaving 

enough flexibility in the core framework so that the contract can be applied in the 

key fields of heating cooling and lighting.  

The necessity for creating a standardized set of contractual documents is principally 

driven by the need to bridge the gap, between many small energy saving measures 

ranging from Euro 5K to 500K and the ever-growing pools of cash parked in 

investment funds wishing to support such measures. 

A standardized contract is seen as the key in facilitating bank lending and 

securitization, in order to create investment products, which would satisfy the needs 

of investment funds in a cost and time efficient manner. 

Baring the above in mind our core focus has been to create legal mechanic which 

would work for “as a service” and as “EPC”, whilst leaving flexibility for the 
practitioners to apply their own technical matrixes, resulting in monetary outputs 

which then are subject to similar remedies and enforcement mechanics.  

This symbiosis between static and modular, has resulted in a hopefully well balanced 

first draft contract, which takes the balance sheet implications of the two main 

implementer groups into account, whilst, subject to risk appetite, be easily re-

financeable by banks and ultimately to be repacked into Notes and Bonds to be 

placed with investors. 

Whilst the EU is a well harmonized market place, when it comes to law, the 

prevalence of national legal systems has been the key challenge we have faced 

when drafting the present contract. Commercial legal mechanics can be drafted in 

such a way that they are well harmonized. However, when it comes to 

enforceability, a key element in any contract, the different schools of thought 

constituting the big legal systems create a major, but not insurmountable hurdle 

when considering the co-mingling of cross border assets in order to reach the scale 

and expected transaction sizes for investors at large to be able to engage in “energy 
savings as an asset class”. 
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1 INTRODUCTION- WHY STANDARDIZATION IS A STEP 

FORWARD 

Ideally energy efficiency solutions are the low-hanging fruits in our quest to tackle 

the battle in becoming CO2 neutral (Jeremy Oppenheim 2008). The logic is strikingly 

simple. What does not get used as energy cost by the implementer (or End Client) is 

now partially diverted to the ESCO Promoter, as such there is no additional cost to 

the implementer. 

Furthermore, the reduced energy demand coupled with new renewable energy 

capacity are making older power stations unprofitable, making it easier to shut down 

the worst polluting power stations. The reduced number of power stations in turn 

reduces the heavy “cap-ex” associated with building of wind and solar parks, thus 

facilitating the raising of capital to implement green powerplants. 

As always, the practicality of implementation of these “no brainer” low hanging fruits 
are facing the realities of the marketplace: 

• For the implementer, the energy saving measures need to come at a no 

upfront cost and preferably with a palpable instant cash benefit resulting from 

the energy savings 

• And at the same time, we need to keep in mind the capital market logic of 

institutional investor with respect of issuance size and liquidity  

The average single measure ESCO proposition, costing between € 5K to a maximum 

of 100K, are a far cry from the desires of the investment community who are looking 

to fund such measures with at least € 50 Mio, but even better € 100 Mio. The good 

news is that there are plenty of possible measures around for implementation and 

the capital earmarked for such investments are growing by the day within the 

investment community at large. Furthermore, the pressure of the general 

population, but especially amongst the Millennials, demanding that we tackle global 

warming, makes these measures a must.  

The real issue is that the institutional logic is calling for: 

1. a minimum of €50 Mio., but preferably € 100 Mio. Note or Bond offering 

2. a minimum ticket they would be able to subscribe to, to be € 5 Mio. (The 
EIB is not taking in consideration anything under € 50 Mio) 

3. preferably a credit rating with a minimum quality of BBB 

4. a green bond certification 

5. a listing 

6. preferably a tenure of 5 to 10 years. 

From the above, it is clear that from the € 5-100K individual measure, to a Note or 

Bond which investors would be willing to subscribe to, there is a sizable gap. Such 

gap we will only be able to bridge if we are able to comingle assets generated by 
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various implementers under a standardised contract, and a quality credit assessment 

process and within a standardised legal contractual framework. 

We would like to illustrate our point by making a real-life example:  

Assuming an average of € 25k per energy saving measure, it would take around 

5000 different individual measures defined by the same amount of legal agreements 

to support a Bond with a face value of € 100 Mio. The above assumes a conservative 
20% of rejected contracts due to legal language or delinquency issues.  

If we now consider the Due diligence or “DD” cost of an average 2-hour legal 

analysis time spent per contract multiplied by an average hourly rate by an average 

law firm in any of the major securitisation locations within the EU at € 400 per hour, 
only the legal fees for DD would amass to app. € 4 Mio. before the costs of 

structuring the transaction. 

Even worse, the above fee would translate into 1,200 lawyer man days, or 5,45 

lawyers working on reviewing the contracts for 1 full year, assuming an 8-hour 

working days and 220 working days per year. This would be the certain death-

sentence to any transaction due to the slowness of the process, as even the largest 

law firms could not dedicate a team of such a magnitude and qualification to such a 

transaction for such a timespan. 

From the above it rapidly follows that without introducing a measure of 

standardisation to the legal contracts the task is virtually insurmountable from a 

cost, but even worse from a human-resources stand point, culminating with the fact 

that “oversight potential” as a source of mistakes at counsel level, with the 

associated insurance risk and cost poses a serious problem for practical 

implementation. 

Clearly, the different contracts translate into different payment terms which need to 

be monitored, this making automatization a challenge and or a very costly exercise 

for Custodians and the Administrative Agents. 

Finally, it is key to mention that the above ultimately selected 4000 contracts, which 

under the transfer agreement, find themselves as the “asset backing” for the Note or 

Bond to be issued by the securitisation vehicle, having different payment mechanics 

would present serious issues for any custodian bank when considering the 

comingling of cross border assets and resulting in 4000 individual accounting lines 

with different payment dates, as such they will refuse to accept the function of a 

custodian. A custodian however is a mandatory service provider by law within the 

securitisation process (under Luxembourg law). As such any transaction would 

become impossible without a custodian, this killing the ability for the ESCO to 

deleverage their balance sheets. 

As such it is key, should one wish to scale the ESCO market, that the needs of the 

various service suppliers and temporary lenders along the line are considered and 

duly reflected in the process.  
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To make the point from a practical level by using “Lighting as a service”. It does not 
matter if promoter A is providing a 100 light sources upgrade to client Z, whilst 

promoter B is providing 500 to client Y, as long as these are governed by the same 

agreement, which LAUNCH is preparing and promoting. The various cash flows can 

then be easily comingled, subject to similar credit quality, thus allowing various 

assets to be transferred to one securitization compartment which have been 

originated by a series of promoters. 

This now allows for ESCO’s to meet the requirements of the institutional investors as 

to issuance size, liquidity and credit quality, and opens in turn the path to refinance 

their overdraft lines, potentially at improved terms, via the capital market. 

Returning to the initial point of the 4000 contracts, as these are now drawn up 

under a unified standard agreement, the due diligence to be carried out by the legal 

team, will partly be addressed in the transfer agreement where the seller and 

possibly his bankers warrant that the ESCO agreement which are earmarked for 

transfer, are in line with the standard terms of the LAUNCH contract, and instead of 

reading all the contract piece by piece, lawyers acting for the securitisation vehicle 

will test the accuracy of these statements based on random sample testing.  

Thus, a DD process which would have taken 4,5 lawyers a whole year to perform, 

will be executed in a matter of days by a handful of lawyers acting for the various 

parties before a “closing” and with this the funding taps can be opened for the ESCO 
industry subject to them being able to source the required ESCO agreements. 

Finally, as we saw, a € 4 Mio legal due diligence bill, which would have broken the 

arithmetic’s of the transaction, is now down to a few € 10K making the whole 

process cheaper, efficient and scalable.            

As follows in the report we touched upon different types of contracts:  

➢ Energy performance contracts, and As a Service (divided into As a Service 

generic, Energy As a service and our approach Efficiency as a Service), 

➢ followed by a detailed description of what Securitization is and why is 

beneficial for the Promoter (ESCO),  

➢ then the On- and Off-Balance phenomenon (and how we approached this 

topic),  

➢ and finally, a detailed Contract Description  
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2 TYPES OF CONTRACTS 

2.1 DEFINITION AND DIFFERENT TYPES OF CONTRACTS 

 

The 2 types of contracts that we started our work from are: 

A. Energy performance contracts  

B. As a Service (divided into As a Service generic, Energy As a service and our 

approach Efficiency as a Service) 

 

A. Energy performance contract (EPC) 

A classic EPC is a “mechanism for organising the energy efficiency financing. The 

EPC involves an Energy Service Company (ESCO) which provides various services, 

such as finances and guaranteed energy savings.” (Hilke and Ryan, 2012). The 

revenue of the ESCO depends on the results of the guaranteed savings. “The ESCO 

stays involved in the measurement and verification process for the energy savings in 

the repayment period. ESCO and energy performance contracting are mostly found 

in the public sector and to a lesser extent in the industrial and commercial building 

sectors” (Hilke and Ryan, 2012). However, in the last years the presence of Energy 

Performance Contracts have spread in the commercial building sector, industrial and 

even in the individual sector (with the growth in their popularity the EPCs developed 

and adapted to the market’s demands- we encounter now different types of EPC on 

the market). 

Under an EPC the ESCO implements a project to deliver energy efficiency measures, 

and uses the income from the savings, or the renewable energy produced (if they 

are having a renewable energy project as the project of the contract), to fund the 

costs of the project. Unless the project delivers energy savings as expected the 

ESCO will not receive its payments. (Dreessen 2003, Hansen 2003 and 2004, Poole 

and Stoner 2003). 

 

EPC models 

There are major 2 types of EPC models: the guaranteed savings model and the 

shared savings. In the 2 following figures we will exemplify the relationship between 

customer, lender and the ESCO following the risk allocations within both types of 

models.  
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Figure 1 Energy Performance Contracting 

 

Source: Berliner Energieagentur GmbH (European Comission DG JRC, Directorate C - 

Energy, Transport and Climate n.d.) 

 

Shared savings: Under a shared savings contract the cost savings are split for a 

pre-determined period “of time in accordance with a pre-arranged percentage: there 

is no ‘standard’ split as this depends on the cost of the project, the length of the 

contract and the risks taken by the ESCO and the consumer”. (Dreessen 2003) 

 

 Figure 2 Shared Savings  

 

Source: Dreessen 2003 (European Comission DG JRC, Directorate C - Energy, Transport and 

Climate n.d.) 
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Guaranteed savings: Under this type of performance contract the ESCO 

guarantees a certain level of energy savings and shielding the client from any 

performance risk.  

A major difference between guaranteed and shared savings models is the ‘shape/ 
form’ of the performance. In the guaranteed shavings the performance guarantee is 

the level of energy saved, whilst in the case of the shared savings this is the cost of 

energy saved.  

Figure 3 Guaranteed Savings 

 

Source: Dreessen 2003 (European Comission DG JRC, Directorate C - Energy, Transport and 

Climate n.d.) 

Table 1 Comparison: Guaranteed Savings and Shared Savings 

GUARANTEED SAVINGS  SHARED SAVINGS 

Performance related to level of energy saved Performance related to cost of energy 
saved; the ESCO bills upon actual results 

Value of energy saved is guaranteed to meet 

debt service obligations down to a floor price 

Value of payments to ESCO is linked to 

energy price; betting on price of energy can 
be risky 

ESCO carries performance risk 
Energy-user/customer carries credit risk 

ESCO carries performance and credit risk as 
it typically carries out the financing 

If the energy-user/customer borrows, then 
debt appears on its balance sheet 

Usually off the balance sheet of energy-
user/customer 

Requires creditworthy customer Can serve customers that do not have 

access to financing 

Extensive Maintenance Equipment may be leased 

ESCO can do more projects without getting 
highly leveraged 

Favours large ESCOs; small ESCOs become 
too leveraged to do more projects 

More comprehensive Favours projects with short payback (‘cream 
skimming’) 

  How to share the ‘excess’ savings 

Sources of data: Dreessen 2003, Hansen 2003 and 2004, Poole and Stoner 2003 (European 

Comission DG JRC, Directorate C - Energy, Transport and Climate n.d.) 
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B. As a Service  

When a contractor accepts to perform a service in exchange for a fee, a service 

contract will define the terms of that agreement. (Harness 2018)  

The contract will include the description of the services/products provided, identifies 

all the parties involved, “the fees for the services provided, how and when payments 

should be made, when and how a contract may be terminated, how disputes relating 

to the contract will be resolved and a contingency plan when applicable” (arbitration, 

etc). (Harness 2018) 

 

Energy as a Service (EaaS) 

Energy as a Service can be defined as “the management of one or more aspects of a 

customer’s energy portfolio—including strategy, program management, energy 

supply, energy use, and asset management—by applying new products, services, 

financing instruments, and technology solutions.” (ND 2017) 

 

Efficiency as a Service Agreement (EfaaS) 

The EfaaS can be considered as a subset of the EPC due to the pay for performance 

aspect, but is one in which the end-client (user) does not finance the installations 

they just pay a monthly fee (for that reason we decided to place it in this section as 

it is a melange between the 2 types of contracts a pure EPC and As a Service 

Efficiency-as-a-service “is a pay-for-performance, off-balance sheet financing 

solution that allows customers to implement energy and water efficiency projects 

with no upfront capital expenditure. The provider pays for project development, 

construction, and maintenance costs.” (Better buildings U.S. department of energy 

n.d.)  

Once the project is operational, the customer makes service payments that are 

based on actual energy savings, obviously the frequency, percentage is to be agreed 

between the involved parties. The energy savings of the customer are calculated 

(and guaranteed) using agreed-upon upfront measurement and agreed-upon 

verification protocols. The monthly savings will pay for efficiency measures that were 

put in place. Responsibility for the equipment, installation, performance, 

maintenance, and servicing then all fall under the supplier’s umbrella under the 

terms of the service agreement, providing a hassle-free and risk-free solution to the 

end customer. (Macklin 2018) 
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2.2 THE MECHANISMS BEHIND SECURITIZATION – A STEP BY STEP  
 

Figure 4 Illustration of the mechanisms behind securitization 
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1. The Client-Promotor relationship 

To have a contract which should cover the key commercial elements of the 

transaction in an easy understandable language, without complicated legal terms it 

is the starting point of the LAUNCH project. 

For most implementers to keep the measures “off balance sheet” (further expanded 
under 3.1 hereunder) is key, or a mandatory requirement under Eurostat 

regulations. 

 

2. The Promotor-Lending banker relationship 

Most promotors of ESCO-Agreements are SME’s which all struggle with similar 
issues, namely 

• A weak balance sheets 

• Little understanding of complex financing mechanics downstream 

• Little understanding of complex accounting concept 

• The desire to enter into a market they recognise as prosperous 

• Little understanding of credit processes on their own clientele for ESCO 

agreements 

As most of the SME’s wanting to promote ESCO’s are having a weak balance sheet, 

their bankers have a hard time looking at “ESCO agreements” until final maturity 

exclusively as an asset against which they would be prepared to lend, without the 

comfort that these contracts would be securitized and moved off their books in a 

pre-agreed manner.  

Assuming the most positive scenario that the lending bankers understand the ESCO’s 

business model and the relationship of the SME with its commercial bankers is 

suitably strong then the ESCO contracts could possibly be used as collateral for an 

“overdraft or warehousing facility” which the bank would extend to the SME. 

Practically these lines would amount in general to a few 100K in the best cases to 

lower single figure million amounts. In any case whatever the amount, the SME will 

sooner or later run into the issue of hitting its lending ceiling, at which time they 

either need to stop promoting ESCO’s until the “loan book” is reduced due to certain 
contracts maturing, or due to a sale of its receivables to an end investor which in 

general would be a securitisation vehicle, resulting in the issuance of a Note or Bond 

for funding purposes 

In order for the contracts to meet lending bankers’ requirements they will, amongst 
others, need to have a high level of predictability of revenue streams and that they 

will be able to have a floating charge over these agreements. 

3. The Promotor, Lending banker custodian and Securitisation vehicle 
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At a given time either for reaching the headroom of the overdraft facility or due to 

time constraints attached to the lending facility, the promoter will need to 

deleverage his balance sheet and sell the ESCO contracts to an ultimate investor on 

a delivery versus payment “DVP” basis. 

 

Such sales are governed by a “transfer agreement’ which will in general, amongst 

other clauses specify: 

 

• The list of assets or ESM agreements to be covered under the transfer 

• The payment mechanics, so that the lending bankers do not find themselves 

out of money, upon transfer 

• Appointment of service providers  

In essence there are 2 types of securitization: ‘synthetic transaction’ and ‘true sale 

transaction’ (PwC Luxembourg 2019, 18) 

• Synthetic securitisation, where the risk linked to a certain asset/receivable is 

covered through a legal mechanism similar to a credit default swap. In such 

a securitisation, the reference portfolio can vary from time to time based on 

predetermined criteria (so this method can be handy for a portfolio of 

relatively short-term assets) and the losses on the portfolio are covered by 

the proceeds of the bond issue. The size of the bond issue is based on the 

amount that is necessary to cover the expected losses on the portfolio and a 

share of the unexpected losses, to the effect that the bank buying the 

protection gets rid of the actual risk (so the bon issue is only a fraction of 

the portfolio). The proceeds of the bond are invested in a “risk free” asset. 
Synthetic is a risk management tool, so it is an ideal tool for banks that have 

access to liquidity but are under stringent risk and capital regulations. It is 

also easier to structure compared with a true sale. (PwC Luxembourg 2019, 

18) 

• A true sale transaction “is the traditional form of a securitisation” (PwC 

Luxembourg 2019, 18). True sale is when the receivables related to certain 

contracts are actually sold to a securitisation vehicle, then the assets are 

then removed from the balance sheet of the originator. “The SV financed 
the purchase of these assets by issuing notes, which are usually rated by a 

rating agency. The notes rating reflects the fact that the SV is isolated from 

any credit risk of the originator and the credit enhancement of the pool. 

Therefore, the originator transfers both the legal and beneficial interest in 

the assets to the SV. As a result, the investor of the SV receives the legal 

and beneficial rights to the underlying assets”. (PwC Luxembourg 2019, 18). 

A true sale is a risk management and a funding tool.  

In the case of Energy Saving Measures in general the first formula will be used 

(although both methods can be used).  
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The transfer agreement regulates the mechanics of release of the assets under the 

floating charge along with the attached receivables to the new owner, which in a 

“delivery versus payment” arrangements is released by the custodian of the buyer. 

In general, it will appoint the “promotor” as a service provider with respect to the 
ESM agreements for services which the investor will not be able to perform by 

themselves and in most cases will stipulate a mechanic whereby the promotor is 

responsible for chasing up delinquent payments by the implementer. 

4. Custodian securitisation vehicle and Investors 

Going forward the custodian directly or indirectly via sub-custodians will collect the 

revenue streams derived from the ESM agreement and will keep them segregated 

from the securitisation vehicles own assets and from any other compartment’s 
assets. As such, subject to the solvability of the custodian, the assets i.e. the cash 

resulting from periodic payments belonging to investors are under “safe keeping” 
and will be released towards the investor, in accordance of the stipulation of the 

compartment’s offering memorandum and of the subscription agreement and the 

instructions of the General Partner, in charge of the daily management of the 

Securitisation vehicles assets. 

4.1 The administrative agent 

The administrative agent is a key service provider in the securitisation process as it 

is his responsibility to draw up the financials of the compartment and to chase up on 

payments which are late via the promoter, as the promoter is having the closest 

relationship with the end client. 

5. The Securitisation vehicle & ESCO  

The securitisation vehicle via its compartments, which are stand-alone ring-fenced 

accounting units, without a legal personality, but with their own balance sheet, are 

the interface between the investor and the promoter. 

Under the terms agreed in the transfer agreement the compartment acquires the 

receivables from the promoter and pays for it with the funds the compartment raises 

from the investor, by issuance of Notes or Bonds, a compartment issues to investors. 

Thus, the compartment is having the financial means of assuming the ownership of 

the receivables and in return for these is getting all the risk and reward associated 

with the cash flows it has purchased.  

Depending on the bad debt associated with the receivable or cash flows the return 

to the investor is in line, in excess or in deficit towards the investor, but the 

promoter has no more liability for the receivables and unlike under the “overdraft 
facility” has no more liability if a client defaults on its payments. 

Having repaid his banking lines, the ESCO is now able to resume his core business 

and contract new business from clients. 
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6. Securitisation vehicle & Investors 

The key relationship is between the vehicle or compartment and its investors. By 

being able to present standardised ESCO contracts, the compartment is able to 

describe the standardised mechanics in place for collecting the cash flows and as 

such is able to give a high level of certainty to its investors on getting the benefit of 

the revenue streams resulting from the receivable acquired, subject to no default. 

Investors, based on a subscription or commitment agreement, undertake to pay 

certain agreed amounts to the securitisation vehicles capital account which is held at 

the custodian. 

The custodian in turn in the mechanic described above releases those funds to the 

account of the promotors-lending bankers whilst simultaneously assuming the 

ownership of the receivable agreed under the transfer agreement. 

These highly complex relationships and transfers would not be possible if the 

underlying client facing agreements would not allow for the free transfer of the ESM 

agreement and would not in substantially identical term, subject to national law, 

allow for the enforcement of these receivables in case of delinquency or bad debt. 

Therefore, the standardised client facing agreement, with identical terms and 

payment mechanics, is the key facilitator of the launching of Energy saving contracts 

as an “asset class”. 

As all the other legal relationships are tried and tested and are accepted by investors 

as state of the art, the underlying client facing agreement between promoter and 

implementer, is the missing link in creating a well-oiled machine to aggregate the 

similar measures on a national or even a cross border manner, as the legal 

relationships between the ESCO and the client, as well as the payment mechanics 

are now uniform. 
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3 LAUNCH APPROACH  

3.1 THE ON OR/AND OFF-BALANCE PHENOMENON 

 

When approaching the contract as an off-balance sheet structure it became very 

rapidly transparent that large parts of the building and infrastructures is either in 

municipality, governmental or charity hands, some of which are precluded from 

taking on debt. 

This does not allow them to retrofit their buildings unless it can be done as an off-

balance sheet. For governments and municipalities Eurostat rules only allow for 

measures to be paid exclusively from savings in order for them to be considered “off 
balance-sheet” and not to be consolidated into the national debt (under the 

Maastricht criteria). 

For energy saving measures to be implemented rapidly it is essential that these do 

not have negative balance sheet implications for the firm or the municipality carrying 

out these energy savings measures. For a firm this would negatively impact its credit 

standing, whilst for municipalities such debt would add under the Maastricht criteria 

to their national debt.  

As such one of the key requirements from a commercial stand point, as the largest 

real estate owners within the EU are communities and the state, it was important to 

make such contract adhere to the criteria set out by the EIB & Eurostat in their 

publications dated May 2018.  

The distinction between a measure being “on-” or “off-balance sheet” is in essence 
the financial implications resulting from the contract are reflected in the numbers 

section of the accounts or if they are reflected in the written notes to the accounts.  

Any measures which would be recognised as an asset in the books of the company 

with a corresponding debt recognised in the liability, is a clear “on balance sheet” 
item. 

The key was to develop such a contractual business model, which auditors and 

Eurostat would accept as being off balance sheet. 

In order for a transaction to be “off balance sheet” it needs to have certain key 

characteristics such as: 

• The exchanged items do not form an asset to the implementer, any item 

which is retrofitted such as a boiler, an air-conditioning or lighting 

equipment, do not become an asset for the entity carrying out any retrofit. 

• A further indication for an item being “off balance sheet” would be the fact 

that the risks and rewards of the transaction are substantially with the 

promoter and should the item not perform according to agreement, 

payment can be withheld or suspended. 



 D2.1 Draft SEAD-End Client contract for testing V.02  

23 
 

• Finally, the aspect of “as a service” which combines the effective output of 

the retrofit i.e. lighting, heating, cooling with ongoing maintenance, meets 

in general the test of the “off balance sheet”.  Because in “as a service” the 
implementer or client effectively pays for the output of the various pieces of 

equipment, and the output of the equipment is the key deliverable to a 

specified and agreed level. Not providing the service to the expected level is 

a reason for withholding payment and as such meets the test for “off 
balance sheet” 

For a detailed description please see Annex 1: Off-Balance Sheet Consideration for 

accounting. 

3.2 CHOSEN PATH OF LAUNCH AND CONTRACT DESCRIPTION 

 

Designing a standardized contract for an industry with different energy saving 

measures is a tall order and requires careful designing. As such, we decided early on 

that the contract needs to have contractual elements which would be static and 

others which would be dynamic. Furthermore, these elements are assembled in such 

a fashion that the output of the dynamic sections become a static monetary input in 

other sections. Whilst the main legal body needs to be static the commercial terms, 

energy saving outputs and resulting subscription fees need to be dynamic. 

Static section will be marked as such in the contract, “do not modify” and on the 
other hand ESCO’s will need to certify that they have not altered the contract when 

warranting the legal body for securitization purposes. This now reduces the workload 

in the securitization process to simple sample verification, instead of verifying each 

contract.  

Finally, in the corporate sector the fact that certain loan agreements preclude the 

owners of buildings to pile further debt on to their books (e.g. undertake energy 

retrofits), the off-balance sheet treatment remedies to these potential breaches of 

covenants, whilst allowing for the caring out of energy efficiency measures to reduce 

energy bills and ultimately reduced CO2 levels. 

As such, we had to devise a business model with accountants and auditors to allow 

for an off-balance sheet treatment for all of the above scenarios. 

At this point it is important to “caveat” our findings and the enclosed LAUNCH 

contract and its off-balance sheet approach. Whilst all due care has been taken 

when drafting the contracts, and in a second stage when transposing into national 

law, no assurance can be given that individual auditors will agree to our approach 

and would not wish to requalify the contract as “on balance sheet” item. As such it 

needs to be stressed that any “implementer” wishing to sign up to such contract, 

should seek the opinion of his own auditor, beforehand as to his acceptance of this 

contract as on-off balance sheet item. 
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3.2.1 THE CONTRACT - MAIN AGREEMENT 

 

The main body of the contract covers all the definitions and responsibilities of the 

parties. Great care has been taken from a structural point of view down to nuanced 

language, so that under no circumstances the notion of a transfer of assets or 

establishment of property is happening to the “implementer” and that the assets 
stay on the books of the ESCO and are the full responsibility of the ESCO. 

Ultimately the client/implementer is actually only entitled to “the output of” i.e. “the 

lamps” and everything else, starting from insurance of the assets to mandatory 
maintenance and upkeep including the entitlement of the warranty is the 

responsibility of the “ESCO”.  

As such the reasonable continues provision of efficiency energy saving services is the 

key element of the contract, over a given contract period. 

This part of the contract will remain static in every case, thus facilitating the due 

diligence process for securitization in due course as described earlier. The full 

version of the current contract draft (as of end of October 2019) is attached as 

Annex 2 to this Deliverable. 

 

3.2.2 SCHEDULE 1 – SERVICES 

 

In this section is the dynamic part of the contract, as it deals with the actual 

measures, described in a tabular way. The measure and technical data is described 

as this varies from installation to installation. Here the baseline, which is calculated 

in a standardized way, and the input from the services results in a “subscription fee” 
which varies from client to client. 

As this is a technical section, the contractual relevant output being a monetary 

amount which then will be applied to other static sections of the contract further 

below. 

This setup allows for great flexibility across various ESM, as it allows for the flexibility 

needed to accommodate the various technologies on a case by case basis, leaving 

the mechanics of the contract always static. 

 

3.2.3 SCHEDULE 2 – FEES 

 

The calculation of the ultimate monthly subscription fee and the commercial 

arrangements described in schedule 1, allow for the ESCO to have a commercially 

flexible approach. Thus, once the fees agreed, the mechanics around the fees 
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become static again, as this in turn is a key section for the warehouse lending facility 

and ultimately the “securitization process” of the contract. 

 

3.2.4 SCHEDULE 3- SUPPORT SERVICES 

 

This section, which is designed to be dynamic regulates the commercial agreements 

amongst the parties as to the intensity of the service, and the breakdown remedies 

which in the end is the key of the ability to suspend payments or enter into a 

crediting period. 

Within this section, which is broken down into: 

• Minor incidents 

• Major incidents 

• And extraordinary breakdown 

All calling for different remedy times and intensity and urgency of remedy, gives the 

implementer the ability to react by withholding payment in case of 

underperformance of the measures which is key for the off-balance sheet treatment 

of the contract. 

 

3.2.5 SCHEDULE 4 EPC 

  

The fact that the contract is made up of a series of modules which we earlier 

described as dynamic and static, the contract can be transformed from an “as a 
service” to a “EPC”. The effective language of the various sections will be prepared 

with the help of one of the LAUNCH beneficiaries, New Energy Group, and will be 

available by mid-October 2019, well ahead of the effective piloting. 

 

3.2.6 OPTION AGREEMENT FOR TRANSFER  

 

The measures which are implemented in general pay for themselves faster than the 

expected useful life of the technical solutions. Thus, we had to devise a way how the 

fixtures which are held on the books of the ESCO, but which find themselves in the 

fittings at the implementers building actually get married from a legal standpoint, 

once the contract comes to his contractual end. 

As such we devised a back to back European style option system, which would allow 

for the implementer to call the fixtures at the end of the contract life, but instead of 

entering into direct option relations between the ESCO and the implementer, which 
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would jeopardize the off balance sheet treatment, we opted to transit via one or 

various charities, which would write a European style call option (these can’t be 
traded and can only be exercised on a specific day) to the implementer, covering the 

assets which are already fitted to the fittings in his building or location. The charity 

in turn buys a “back to back” call option from the ESCO, thus eliminating any kind of 

exposure, as the charity holds both ends of the transaction in a back to back 

structure. 

The benefits to the charities are the option premium income. Should the option 

expire without being called, then the charity itself abandons its rights to call from the 

ESCO. 

As the strike prices are of negligible amounts and are identical on both legs of the 

option there is no financial gain, therefore not creating a tax liability, with the 

exception of the option premium income. 

 

3.2.7 STEP IN RIGHTS 

 

Energy saving contracts especially under the framework of as a service greatly 

depend on the delivery of agreed outputs. If such output fail to be delivered then 

the terms of the contract allow for the “subscriber” to withhold payment which could 
lead to “mandatory default event”; this clearly is a risk for bankers and financers. 

The proper delivery of the services to the subscriber is therefore a key requirement.  

The ESCO could have temporary issues, which lead to its incapacitation to provide 

the proper services or it might face terminal issues such as a bankruptcy. 

In any case once the lenders deem that remedial action needs to be taken, they 

need to have a mechanic in place which allows for the replacement of the originating 

ESCO, and these mechanics are regulated via the step-in-rights. 

These cover amongst others the mechanics for the dismissal of the ESCO and the 

replacement of such ESCO by a suitable service provider acceptable to the lender 

and the subscriber. 

 

3.2.8 APPLICABLE LAW 

 

As there is no applicable EU-wide framework, the LAUNCH contract will need to be 

transposed and translated to member state law, which then will allow for the 

enforcement of these contracts in case of delinquency or bad debt in conformity with 

the local law and practices in force. 
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4 CONCLUSIONS 

 

The challenges of drafting the standardized contract was to be able to bring together 

all the elements needed from the 4 perspectives of the contracting parties:  

• the promoter (ESCO),  

• the end client (public or private),  

• the lending banker 

• securitization vehicle and or investor.  

Each of the above have their own perspective and expectations with regards to a 

commercial interaction.  

As a first draft we put in place the desired elements by all the players in a manner 

that the parties inside the LAUNCH consortium saw fit:  

➢ Off-Balance approach (desired by the Promoter and End client) 

➢ Step-in clause, Applicable law, Resolution provisions, Assignment (lending 

banker) 

➢ It’s widely accepted that whilst under the National GAAP standards the “off-

balance sheet” is accepted; however, we need to stress that these assurances 

under the IFRS become less robust. 

Therefore, we need to caveat our earlier statements that the contract as designed is 

to be understood to be “off balance sheet”. 

This view needs to be agreed by the respective auditor of the relevant entity caring 

out the measures as to his own opinion, and his ability to certify the accounts as “a 
true and fair picture of the financial health of the company” under inclusion of these 

contracts.  

As part of our work, we have ascertained on an informal basis, the view of various 

leading auditing firms in various locations, as to their views on the treatment of this 

contract. Whilst our work in the LAUNCH consortium does not have as a scope 

obtaining opinions from audit firms on the contract, in informal discussions, various 

audit firms expressed a favorable opinion as to the “off balance sheet treatment” of 
the contract as presented. Having said so they all stressed the importance to comply 

with the requirements of IFRS 16. 

Whilst all due care has been taken by the various parties contributing to this work 

and the aspect of “off balance sheet” no assurance can be given that individual 

auditors will agree with our thinking in due course.  

After the first pilot run in early 2020 we will analyze the result of the LAUNCH 

contract testing keeping a flexible mindset with regards to the shape and format that 

the final version of the LAUNCH contract might take.  
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6 ANNEX 1 
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This document is a blueprint of the considerations necessary to make Energy saving 

measures off-balance sheet, while the Authors has taken all necessary care, it 

cannot guarantee that individual auditors in their true and fair audit opinion will 

follow the approach described in the provided guideline. 

 

Overview 

 

➢ Components of a Financial Report 

➢ Purpose of a Financial Report 

➢ What is a Balance sheet and a Profit & Loss and composition of both a 

balance sheet & profit & loss statement? 

➢ Definition of GAAP (Local GAAP v/s IFRS) 

➢ Definition of off-balance sheet item 

➢ Purpose of an off-balance sheet item 

➢ How to make an item off-balance sheet? 

➢ Advantages of making the item an off-balance sheet item 

➢ Conditions for an EPC to be recognised as off government balance 

sheet (Eurostat) 

➢ Conclusion 
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Components of a Financial Report 

A financial report comprises: 

(a) a balance sheet; 

(b) an income statement; 

(c) a statement of changes in equity showing either: 

(i) all changes in equity, or 

(ii) changes in equity other than those arising from transactions with 

equity holders acting in their capacity as equity holders; 

(d) a cash flow statement; and 

(e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory notes. 

Many entities present, outside the financial report, a financial review by 

management that describes and explains the main features of the entity’s financial 
performance (income statements) and financial position (balance sheet) and the 

principal uncertainties it faces. 

Such a report may include a review of: 

a. the main factors and influences determining financial performance, including 

changes in the environment in which the entity operates, the entity’s 
response to those changes and their effect, and the entity’s policy for 

investment to maintain and enhance financial performance, including its 

dividend policy;  

b. the entity’s sources of funding and its targeted ratio of liabilities to equity; 

and  

c. the entity’s resources not recognised in the balance sheet 

 

Purpose of a Financial Report 

A Financial report is a structured representation of the financial position and financial 

performance of an entity at a specified date. The objective of a financial report is to 

provide information about the financial position, financial performance and cash 

flows of an entity that is useful to a wide range of users in making economic 

decisions. Financial reports also show the results of management’s stewardship of 
the resources entrusted to it. To meet this objective, financial reports provide 

information about an entity’s: 

(a) assets; 

(b) liabilities; 

(c) equity; 
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(d) income and expenses, including gains and losses; 

(e) other changes in equity; and 

(f) cash flows. 

This information, along with other information in the notes, assists users of the 

financial report in predicting the entity’s future cash flows and, in particular, their 
timing and certainty. 

 

What is a Balance sheet and a Profit & Loss (or an income statement) and 

composition of both a balance sheet & profit & loss statement? 

The balance sheet (also referred to as the statement of financial position) discloses 

what an entity owns (assets) and what it owes (liabilities) at a specific point in time. 

Equity is the owners’ residual interest in the assets of a company, net of its liabilities. 

The amount of equity is increased by income earned during the year, or by the 

issuance of new equity. The amount of equity is decreased by losses, by dividend 

payments, or by share repurchases. 

An understanding of the balance sheet enables an analyst to evaluate the liquidity, 

solvency, and overall financial position of a company. 

• The balance sheet distinguishes between current and non-current assets and 

between current and non- current liabilities unless a presentation based on 

liquidity provides more relevant and reliable information. 

• The concept of liquidity relates to a company’s ability to pay for its near-term 

operating needs. With respect to a company overall, liquidity refers to the 

availability of cash to pay those near-term needs. With respect to a particular 

asset or liability, liquidity refers to its “nearness to cash.” 
• Some assets and liabilities are measured on the basis of fair value and some 

are measured at historical cost. Notes to financial statements provide 

information that is helpful in assessing the comparability of measurement 

bases across companies. 

• Assets expected to be liquidated or used up within one year or one operating 

cycle of the business, whichever is greater, are classified as current assets. 

Assets not expected to be liquidated or used up within one year or one 

operating cycle of the business, whichever is greater, are classified as non-

current assets. 

•  Liabilities expected to be settled or paid within one year or one operating 

cycle of the business, whichever is greater, are classified as current liabilities. 

Liabilities not expected to be settled or paid within one year or one operating 

cycle of the business, whichever is greater, are classified as non-current 

liabilities. 
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• Trade receivables, also referred to as accounts receivable, are amounts owed 

to a company by its customers for products and services already delivered. 

Receivables are reported net of the allowance for doubtful accounts. 

• Inventories are physical products that will eventually be sold to the company’s 
customers, either in their current form (finished goods) or as inputs into a 

process to manufacture a final product (raw materials and work-in-process). 

Inventories are reported at the lower of cost or net realizable value. If the net 

realizable value of a company’s inventory falls below its carrying amount, the 
company must write down the value of the inventory and record an expense. 

• Inventory cost is based on specific identification or estimated using the first-

in, first-out or weighted average cost methods. Some accounting standards 

(including US GAAP but not IFRS) also allow last-in, first-out as an additional 

inventory valuation method. 

• Accounts payable, also called trade payables, are amounts that a business 

owes its vendors for purchases of goods and services. 

• Property, plant, and equipment (PPE) are tangible assets that are used in 

company operations and expected to be used over more than one fiscal 

period. Examples of tangible assets include land, buildings, equipment, 

machinery, furniture, and natural resources such as mineral and petroleum 

resources. 

• Depreciation is the process of recognizing the cost of a long-lived asset over 

its useful life. (Land is not depreciated.) 

• Intangible assets refer to identifiable non-monetary assets without physical 

substance. Examples include patents, licenses, and trademarks. For each 

intangible asset, a company assesses whether the useful life is finite or 

indefinite. 

• An intangible asset with a finite useful life is amortised on a systematic basis 

over the best estimate of its useful life, with the amortisation method and 

useful-life estimate reviewed at least annually. Impairment principles for an 

intangible asset with a finite useful life are the same as for PPE. 

• An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not amortised. Instead, it is 

tested for impairment at least annually. 

• The most common asset that is not a separately identifiable asset is goodwill, 

which arises in business combinations. Goodwill is not amortised; instead it is 

tested for impairment at least annually. 

• Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to both a financial asset of 

one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. In 

general, there are two basic alternative ways that financial instruments are 

measured: fair value or amortised cost. For financial instruments measured at 

fair value, there are two basic alternatives in how net changes in fair value 

are recognized: as profit or loss on the income statement, or as other 

comprehensive income (loss) which bypasses the income statement. 

• Typical long-term financial liabilities include loans (i.e., borrowings from 

banks) and notes or bonds payable (i.e., fixed-income securities issued to 
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investors). Liabilities such as bonds issued by a company are usually reported 

at amortised cost on the balance sheet. 

• Deferred tax liabilities arise from temporary timing differences between a 

company’s income as reported for tax purposes and income as reported for 
financial statement purposes. 

• Owners’ equity section of the balance sheet comprises mainly of: contributed 

capital, retained earnings (carried forward result), accumulated other 

comprehensive income. 

• The statement of changes in equity reflects information about the increases 

or decreases in each component of a company’s equity over a period. 

  

What is GAAP? 

GAAP is short for Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. GAAP is a cluster of 

accounting standards and common industry usage that have been developed over 

many years. It is used by organizations to: 

 

 Properly organize their financial information into accounting records; 

 Summarize the accounting records into financial statements; and 

 Disclose certain supporting information. 

 

The standards that govern financial reporting and accounting vary from country to 

country i.e. Local GAAP principle (US GAAP, LUX GAAP, FRENCH GAAP, BELGIUM 

GAAP, etc.) and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

IFRS are a set of international accounting standards, which state how particular 

types of transactions and other events should be reported in financial statements. 

IFRS are issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and they 

specify exactly how accountants must maintain and report their accounts. IFRS was 

established in order to have a common accounting language, so business and 

accounts can be understood from company to company and country to country. 

What is an off-balance sheet item? 

Off-balance sheet financing is a liability that is not directly recorded on the balance 

sheet of the company. 

However, Off-balance sheet financing items carry enough significance because even 

if they are not recorded on balance sheet finance, they are still the liability of the 

company and should be included in the overall analysis of the financial position of 

the company. 
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What are the advantages of making the item an off-balance sheet item? 

Off-balance sheet financing refers to an arrangement in which a business obtains 

funds or equipment from external sources, but does not report the transaction as an 

asset or a liability on its balance sheet. However, the business may mention the 

transaction in the notes to its accounts. For example, instead of buying new 

equipment, the business may choose to lease it so it does not become an asset or a 

liability if the applicable GAAP allows for leased assets to not be considered on 

balance (which is not any more the case under IFRS). 

 

Off-balance sheet financing has several advantages: 

 Risk 

A business usually doesn't have to include an item on the balance sheet because the 

item is neither an asset nor a liability. With a liability, the business eventually has to 

pay out money to an external party; for example, the bank that lends loan funds. 

Because the off-balance sheet item is not a liability, it poses little risk to the 

company. A business may turn an item into a non-liability by taking out a renewable 

lease instead of a loan it has to pay off, or by transferring the risk to a separate 

legal entity. 

 

 Borrowing Capacity 

When a business takes on a new loan, it increases its debt burden. With off-balance 

sheet financing, the business obtains the funds or items it needs without affecting its 

debt burden. Because a business usually has a maximum amount of funds it can 

borrow, off-balance sheet financing gives the business the ability to use its 

remaining allowable borrowing capacity for other purposes. In this way, off-balance 

sheet financing allows the business to accomplish more tasks. 

  

 Relationships 

When a business signs a contract with a supplier or lender, the contract may require 

that the business limit its debt to a certain level. If the business needs funds or 

equipment and decides to take on a new loan, it may exceed the contractual limit. In 

the case of large corporations, the business may also have to obtain the approval of 

the directors to get new debts. Because off-balance sheet financing does not involve 

the business taking on debt, it does not affect a business' relationship with suppliers, 

lenders or directors. 

 

 Reported Numbers 
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Off-balance sheet financing does not affect the business' reported numbers and 

ratios. For example, the business will have the same levels of return on assets and 

debt ratio. In contrast, a loan often affects a business' reported numbers and ratios 

negatively, making it look less attractive to analysts, investors and creditors. Off-

balance sheet financing makes the business appear financially healthier than if it 

were to obtain debt. 

 

Example: 

Suppose ABC Ltd is the undergoing expansion plan and wants to purchase 

machinery to establish the second unit in another EU state. However, it is not having 

a financing arrangement for same as its balance sheet is already heavily financed. In 

such a case, it has two options. It can set up a joint venture with other investors or 

company to establish a new unit and obtain fresh financing in name of the new 

entity. 

On other hands, it can also chalk out the long-term lease agreement with equipment 

manufacturer for the leasing of machinery and in this case, it need not worry about 

obtaining fresh financing. Both of the above cases are examples of Off-balance sheet 

financing. 

 

What is the Purpose of Off-Balance Sheet Items? 

 

• To maintain solvency ratio like debt to equity ratio below a certain level and 

obtain funding which company would not have been able to obtain otherwise. 

• Better solvency ratios ensure maintaining a good credit rating which in term 

allows the company to access cheaper finance. 

• It makes balance sheet finance appear leaner which prima facie may attract 

investors. 

 

Operating v/s Finance Lease 

Operating Lease: A lease in which all risks and rewards remain with the lessor of the 

leased asset. The asset is returned by the lessee after using it for the agreed lease 

term. Therefore, the ownership remains with the lessor for the entire period and is 

generally treated like renting meaning in a number of local GAAPs (not under IFRS 

16), the lease payments are treated as operating expenses and the asset does not 

show on the balance sheet. 

Finance leases also known as the Capital Lease is where the risks and rewards 

related ownership of the asset are transferred to the lessee. The ownership transfer 

option at the end of the lease period is available to the lessee. The title may or may 
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not be transferred eventually. A financial lease is generally treated like loan. Here, 

asset ownership is considered by the lessee, so the asset appears on the balance 

sheet. 

According to the International Accounting Standards (IAS) 17.33 for an operating 

lease, the lease payments should be recognised as an expense in the income 

statement over the lease term on a straight-line basis, unless another systematic 

basis is more representative of the time pattern of the user's benefit 

IFRS 16 - Leases 

For lessees, the picture is fundamentally different and IFRS 16 can be expected to 

have a significant impact, particularly for entities that have previously kept a large 

proportion of their financing ‘off-balance sheet’ in the form of operating leases. This 
operating lease – style accounting treatment is no longer available. 

The expectation for lessees will be the following: a shift in lease expense 

classification from operating expenses to financing costs and amortisation (i.e. 

moving below metrics such as operating profit, EBITDA or EBIT). There are some 

exceptions: any variable lease payments not included in the initial measurement of 

the lease liability are classified as operating expenses, as are the expenses 

associated with short-term and low value asset leases for which recognition 

exemptions (as described below) are applied.  

IFRS for SMEs 

Recognition and measurement 

Lessees shall recognise lease payments under operating leases (excluding costs for 

services such as insurance and maintenance) as an expense over the lease term on 

a straight-line basis unless either: (a) another systematic basis is representative of 

the time pattern of the user’s benefit, even if the payments are not on that basis; or 
(b) the payments to the lessor are structured to increase in line with expected 

general inflation (based on published indexes or statistics) to compensate for the 

lessor’s expected inflationary cost increases. 

International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) 

Based on IAS 17 which in turn is superseded by IFRS 16 (as described previously). 

Source: [IFRS 16:5, 6 & 8] items listed above: A guide to IFRS 16, June 16] 

Conditions for an EPC to be recognised as off government balance sheet 

(Eurostat1) 

a) EPC contractor must be the economic owner of the assets installed (EPC 

contractor incurring most risk and most rewards with the related contract) 

 
1Source: Eurostat Guidance Note Recording energy performance Contracts,  
https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/1015035/7959867/Eurostat-Guidance-Note-Recording-Energy-Perform-

Contracts-Gov-Accounts.pdf/ 
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b) Duration of the contract  

c) The existence of factoring operation in the context of EPC 

d) No government financing or other guarantees to the EPC provider which 

might distort the distribution of risk and rewards relating to the EPC 

  

Conclusion: 

To conclude, we have considered only mainly 3 parties in our Energy Performance 

Contract: 

1. The Promoter  

The Promoter is the party acquiring and installing the energy saving equipment (for 

example: light bulbs). The Client is the end-user of the energy saving equipment. 

The Promoter will put in place a 3-5 years’ service agreement, billing the Client 
monthly after the installation of the energy saving equipment has been completed. 

As such the Promoter will act like a Bank and issues a service agreement contract 

that guarantees the payment of the energy saving equipment in case of non-

payment from the Client. The Promoter assumes all the Client’s risk in the service 

agreement. The Client will pay a fee for the service to the Promoter representing a 

percent of the contract value (for example the total cost of the light bulbs+ cost). 

As the Promoter will acquire the energy saving equipment, sustain the all the cost to 

make the energy saving equipment operational and assume all the risks associated 

with the assets, the Promoter will recognize the tangible assets (light bulbs) on their 

Balance sheet.  

The energy saving equipment will be depreciated over a period of 3-5 years 

depending on the length of the service agreement with a residual value at nil value. 

The valuation of the investment in the book of the Promoter will be measured at 

cost. 

The Promoter will recognize revenue only after the contract will be signed and light 

bulbs installed and will be billed on a monthly basis. 

2. The Client  

From a Client perspective, the Client will be considered as a user of the energy 

saving equipment and via a service level agreement, the Client will report such a 

commitment for the services which include maintenance of the said energy saving 

equipment on his income statement but his balance sheet is unaffected. 

Using IFRS as the accounting regime will be interesting for the Client. 

3. From the Securitization vehicle perspective: 
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The Securitization vehicle aim to purchase the contract from the Promoter 

mentioned above and paid at a discount rate the value of the contract in order to 

boost the cash-flow of the Promoter. 

How the items will be treated from an accounting perspective in the book of the 

Securitization vehicle? 

In the Securitization Vehicle the acquisition of the Energy Performance Contract from 

the Promoter will be recognized as a discount cash flow payment in their Balance 

sheet and considered as an Asset whereby the payment will be amortized over the 

duration of the service level agreement and the liability side will be a debt to third 

parties. 
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7 ANNEX 2 – THE LAUNCH STANDARDIZED CONTRACT 



 

 

[•]1 as a Service Agreement 

 

 

This contract has been prepared and approved for LAUNCH, an EU-funded project that aims to broaden and 

streamline Energy Service Company (ESCO) market offerings, on the basis of standardised contracts for smaller 

customers that also support substantial funding arrangements and securitisation. Only the schedules to the 

contract may be negotiated (except the energy savings measurement methodology). You must not negotiate 

any deletions or other changes to, or make any representations or enter into any arrangements that change 

or are inconsistent with, the main section of the contract or the energy savings measurement methodology. 

If you have suggestions for how the standard contract might evolve in due course, please let us know, and we 

may periodically update the template. 

 

This agreement (“Agreement”) is made on    [DATE] 

 

BETWEEN 

 

(1) [FULL COMPANY NAME] incorporated and registered in England and Wales with company number 

[NUMBER] whose registered office is at [REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS] (Company) 

 

(2) [FULL COMPANY NAME] incorporated and registered in England and Wales with company number 

[NUMBER] whose registered office is at [REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS] (Subscriber) 

 

BACKGROUND 

   

A. The Company has developed a [•] service for business, municipal and other public premises, which may 

involve the provision (but not the sale, lease or hire) of certain equipment [•] as may be required to 

provide [•] as a service to the customer premises. 

  

B. The Subscriber wishes to use the Company’s service at its premises without owning the equipment 

required to provide the service. 

  

C. The Company has agreed to provide and the Subscriber has agreed to take and pay for the Company’s 
service subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

  

AGREED TERMS 

 

1. INTERPRETATION   

 

Capitalised terms used in this Agreement that are not otherwise defined where they first appear shall have 

the following meaning: 

 

Additional Services: means any additional services within the scope of this Agreement requested by the 

Subscriber (and, if agreed by the parties, to be supplied by the Company) pursuant to Clause 4. 

 

Applicable Law: means all laws, regulations and regulatory rules applicable to the activities of a party to this 

Agreement.  

 

Business Day:  a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in England when banks in London are 

 
1 Throughout the Contract: “[•]” will be replaced each time with the service provided by the ESCO: may it be lighting, 
heating, cooling, and so forth. 

 



 

 

open for business. 

 

Contract Year: means each successive 12 calendar month period during the Term, the first Contract Year 

commencing on the 1st day of the month immediately after the Effective Date; 

 

Control:  means the beneficial ownership of more than 50% of the issued share capital of a company or the 

legal power to direct or cause the direction of the general management of the company, and controls, 

controlled and the expression change of control shall be construed accordingly. 

 

Confidential Information:  information that is proprietary or confidential and is either clearly labelled as such 

or identified as Confidential Information in Clause 11.5 or Clause 11.6. 

 

Company Data: means the Services Manual and the data supporting the performance of the Services. 

 

Effective Date:  the date on which this Agreement is signed by both parties. 

 

Energy: means the power source or any other energy required to provide the Services at the Premises. 

 

Energy Provider: means the supplier of the Energy. 

 

Energy Savings: has the meaning given in Schedule 2. 

 

Energy Savings Data: means the supporting data demonstrating the Energy Savings. 

 

Equipment: means the equipment specified in Schedule 1. 

 

Intellectual Property Rights means any patent, copyright, database right, moral right, design right, registered 

design, trade mark, service mark, domain name, metatag, know how, model, unregistered design (and any 

application for such right) or other intellectual property right anywhere in the world.   

 

• Plan: means the quantity, • [output] type, and general • arrangements required to provide the Services at 

the Premises.  

 

Mandatory Policies:  the policies and related procedures [attached OR listed] in Schedule 4, as duly amended 

from time to time. 

 

Minimum Energy Savings: has the meaning given in Schedule 2. 

 

Minimum Savings Guarantee: has the meaning given in Clause 2.7. 

 

Normal Business Hours: [8.00 am to 6.00 pm] local UK time, each Business Day. 

 

Premises: means the premises specified in Schedule 1. 

 

Services:  • , Support Services, the use of the Equipment and the Services Manual, as more particularly 

described in Schedule 1. 

 

Services Manual: guidance from the Company to the Subscriber on the supply and usage of the Services. 

 

Software:  the software applications operated or provided by the Company as part of the Services. 

 

Service Fees:  the subscription fees payable by the Subscriber to the Company for the User Subscriptions, as 

set out in Paragraph 1 of Schedule 2. 



 

 

 

Step-in Party: a financial institution or other entity nominated by the Company for the purposes of Clause 

13.4. 

 

Subscriber Data:  the data provided by the Subscriber to the Company about the Subscriber, its staff, business 

and the Premises for the purpose of using the Services.  

 

Support Services: means the obligations specified in the Support Service Levels. 

 

Support Service Levels: the Company’s current policy from time to time for providing core support to its 

subscribers generally for services that are the same type as the Services under this Agreement, as described 

in Schedule 3. 

 

Term:  means the period specified in Schedule 2, subject to the provisions of clause 13. 

 

Virus:  any thing or device (including any software, code, file or programme) which may: prevent, impair or 

otherwise adversely affect the operation of any computer software, hardware or network, any 

telecommunications service, equipment or network or any other service or device; prevent, impair or 

otherwise adversely affect access to or the operation of any programme or data, including the reliability of 

any programme or data (whether by re-arranging, altering or erasing the programme or data in whole or part 

or otherwise); or adversely affect the user experience, including worms, trojan horses, viruses and other 

similar things or devices. 

 

Vulnerability:  a weakness in the computational logic (for example, code) found in software and hardware 

components that when exploited, results in a negative impact to the confidentiality, integrity, or availability, 

and the term Vulnerabilities shall be construed accordingly. 

 

2. COMPANY’S OBLIGATIONS   

 

2.1. The Company shall, during the Term, provide the Services to the Subscriber on and subject to the terms 

of this Agreement. 

 

2.2. The Company shall use commercially reasonable endeavours to make the Services available 24 hours a 

day, seven days a week, except for: 

  

2.2.1. planned maintenance carried out during the agreed Support Hours specified in Schedule 3; and 

  

2.2.2. unscheduled maintenance performed outside Normal Business Hours, provided that the Company 

has used reasonable endeavours to give the Subscriber at least [[24] Normal Business Hours’] 
notice in advance. 

  

2.3. The Company shall provide and maintain the necessary Equipment to deliver the Services in the Premises. 

 

2.4. The Company will supply the Support Services in accordance with its then current Support Service Levels. 

The Company may amend the Support Service Levels in its sole and absolute discretion from time to time, 

provided that such changes apply to subscribers generally.  

 

2.5. The Company will at all times provide the Services with reasonable skill and care. 

 

2.6. The Energy Savings and Minimum Energy Savings shall be measured, calculated and recalculated as 

specified in Schedule 2. A report of the results of such measurement and calculation shall be provided 

within ninety (90) days after each anniversary of the Performance Commencement Date. A report of the 

results of any recalculation shall be provided within ninety (90) days after the date of such recalculation. 

 



 

 

2.7. The Company hereby guarantees that the Minimum Energy Savings will be achieved during each Contract 

Year as a result of the installation and operation of the Equipment and provision of the Services, subject 

to the satisfactory performance by the Subscriber of all the Subscriber’s obligations under this Agreement 

and the provisions of Clause 13 (“Minimum Savings Guarantee”). In the event the Energy Savings 

achieved during any Contract Year in which the Minimum Savings Guarantee is in effect is less than the 

Minimum Energy Savings during that Contract Year, the Company shall pay to the Subscriber an amount 

equal to the deficiency (subject to the Company’s right of set-off in Clause 8). 

 

2.8. This Agreement shall not prevent the Company from entering into similar Agreements with third parties, 

or from independently developing, using, selling or licensing documentation, products and/or services 

which are similar to those provided under this Agreement. 

  

2.9. The Company warrants that it has and will maintain all necessary licences, consents, and permissions 

necessary for the performance of its obligations under this Agreement. 

 

2.10. In performing its obligations under this Agreement the Company shall comply with the Mandatory 

Policies applicable to its activities. 

 

2.11. During the Term, the Company shall, at its own expense, obtain and maintain the following insurances 

in relation to the Service on the following terms: 

  

2.11.1. insurance of the Equipment to a value not less than its full replacement value comprehensively 

against all usual risks of loss, damage or destruction by fire, theft or accident; 

  

2.11.2. insurance for such amounts as a prudent owner or operator of the Equipment would insure 

for, or such amount as the Company may from time to time reasonably require, to cover any 

third party or public liability risks of whatever nature and however arising in connection with 

the Equipment; and 

  

2.11.3. insurance against such other or further risks relating to the Equipment as may be required by 

law, together with such other insurance as the Company may from time to time consider 

reasonably necessary. 

 

2.11.4. The Company shall be responsible for paying any deductibles due on any claims under such 

insurance policies. 

  

2.11.5. The Subscriber shall give immediate written notice to the Company in the event of any loss, 

accident or damage to the Equipment. 

 

  

3. SUBSCRIBER’S OBLIGATIONS   

  

3.1. The Subscriber shall: 

  

3.1.1. provide the Company with: 

  

(a) all necessary co-operation in relation to this Agreement; and 

  

(b) all necessary access to the Premises and such information,  

 

as may be required by the Company in order to provide the Services and to maintain the 

Equipment, including but not limited to Subscriber Data, security access information; 

 

3.1.2. in addition to the information obtained by the Company via the Software, provide to the Company 



 

 

all the Energy bills and Energy billing data required to calculate the Service Fees in accordance with 

the calculations specified in Schedule 2; 

 

3.1.3. without affecting its other obligations under this Agreement, comply with all applicable laws and 

regulations with respect to its activities under this Agreement; 

  

3.1.4. carry out all other Subscriber responsibilities set out in this Agreement in a timely and efficient 

manner. In the event of any delays in the Subscriber’s provision of such assistance as agreed by the 
parties, the Company may adjust any agreed timetable or delivery schedule as reasonably 

necessary; 

  

3.1.5. ensure that it either owns or duly pays the rent at the Premises; 

 

3.1.6. obtain and shall maintain all necessary licences, consents, and permissions necessary for the 

Company, its contractors and agents to perform their obligations under this Agreement, including 

without limitation the Services; 

  

3.1.7. ensure that its network and systems comply with the relevant specifications provided by the 

Company from time to time; and 

 

3.1.8. be, to the extent permitted by law and except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, 

solely responsible for:  

 

(a) procuring, maintaining and securing the supply of Energy and its Energy network connections; 

and  

 

(b) the Subscriber’s contractual arrangements with the Energy Provider and Energy network 

connections, including all problems, conditions, delays, delivery failures and other loss or 

damage arising from or relating to such contractual arrangements and Energy network 

connections. 

  

3.2. The Subscriber shall not except as may be allowed by any applicable law which is incapable of exclusion 

by Agreement between the parties and except to the extent expressly permitted under this Agreement: 

  

3.2.1. attempt to copy, modify, duplicate, create derivative works from, frame, mirror, republish, 

download, display, transmit, or distribute all or any portion of the Software or commercial terms 

in any form or media or by any means; or 

  

3.2.2. attempt to de-compile, reverse compile, disassemble, reverse engineer or otherwise reduce to 

human-perceivable form all or any part of the Software; or 

  

3.2.3. access all or any part of the Services in order to build a product or service which competes with the 

Services; or 

  

3.2.4. use the Services to provide services to third parties; or 

  

3.2.5. subject to Clause 22.1, license, sell, rent, lease, transfer, assign, distribute, display, disclose, or 

otherwise commercially exploit, or otherwise make the Services available to any third party; or 

  

3.2.6. attempt to obtain, or assist third parties in obtaining, access to the Services, other than as provided 

under this Clause 3; or 

  

3.2.7. introduce or permit the introduction of, any Virus or Vulnerability into the Company’s network and 
information systems. 



 

 

  

3.3. The Subscriber shall use all reasonable endeavours to prevent any unauthorised access to, or use of, the 

Services and, in the event of any such unauthorised access or use, promptly notify the Company. 

  

3.4. The rights provided under this Clause 3 are granted to the Subscriber only, and shall not be considered 

granted to any subsidiary or holding company of the Subscriber. 

 

3.5. In performing its obligations under this Agreement the Subscriber shall comply with the Mandatory 

Policies applicable to its activities. 

 

3.6. The Subscriber shall during the Term: 

 

3.6.1. ensure that the environment in which the Equipment is kept meets the minimum requirements 

specified by the Company; 

  

3.6.2. take such steps (including compliance with all safety and usage instructions provided by the 

Company) as may be necessary to ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, that the Equipment 

is at all times safe and without risk to health when it is being used, cleaned or maintained by a 

person at work; 

  

3.6.3. make no alteration to the Equipment and shall not remove any existing component(s) from the 

Equipment;  

  

3.6.4. keep the Company fully informed of all material matters relating to the Equipment; 

  

3.6.5. keep the Equipment at all times at the Premises and shall not move or attempt to move any part 

of the Equipment to any other location without the Company’s prior written consent; 
  

3.6.6. permit the Company or its duly authorised representative to inspect the Equipment at all 

reasonable times and for such purpose to enter upon the Premises or any premises at which the 

Equipment may be located, and shall grant reasonable access and facilities for such inspection; 

  

3.6.7. not sell or offer for sale, let or lend the Equipment or allow the creation of any mortgage, charge, 

lien or other security interest in respect of it; 

 

3.6.8. not without the prior written consent of the Company, attach the Equipment to any land or building 

so as to cause the Equipment to become a permanent or immovable fixture on such land or building 

(rather than a removable fitting). The Equipment must be capable of being removed without 

material injury to such land or building and the Subscriber shall repair and make good any damage 

caused by the affixation or removal of the Equipment from any land or building and indemnify the 

Company against all losses, costs or expenses incurred as a result of such affixation or removal; 

  

3.6.9. not do or permit to be done any act or thing which will or may jeopardise the right, title and/or 

interest of the Company in the Equipment and the Subscriber must take all necessary steps to 

ensure that the Company may enter such land or building and recover the Equipment both during 

the Term and for a reasonable period thereafter, including by procuring from any person having 

an interest in such land or building, a waiver in writing and in favour of the Company of any rights 

such person may have or acquire in the Equipment and a right for the Company to enter onto such 

land or building to remove the Equipment; 

  

3.6.10. not suffer or permit the Equipment to be confiscated, seized or taken out of its possession or 

control under any distress, execution or other legal process, but if the Equipment is so 

confiscated, seized or taken, the Subscriber shall notify the Company and the Subscriber shall 

at its sole expense use its best endeavours to procure an immediate release of the Equipment 



 

 

and shall indemnify the Company on demand against all losses, costs, charges, damages and 

expenses incurred as a result of such confiscation; 

  

3.6.11. not use the Equipment for any unlawful purpose; 

  

3.6.12. ensure that at all times the Equipment remains identifiable as being the Company’s property 
and wherever possible shall ensure that a visible sign to that effect is attached to the 

Equipment; 

  

3.6.13. not do or permit to be done anything which could invalidate the insurances referred to in 

Clause 2.11. 

 

4. NO ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

 

4.1. If the Subscriber wishes the Company to undertakes any Additional Services it would have to be under a 

separate agreement. 

 

5. SUBSCRIBER DATA   

 

5.1. The Subscriber shall own all right, title and interest in and to all of the Subscriber Data that is not personal 

data and shall have sole responsibility for the legality, reliability, integrity, accuracy and quality of all such 

Subscriber Data. 

 

5.2. The Company shall, in providing the Services, comply with its Privacy and Security Policy relating to the 

privacy and security of the Subscriber Data, as such document may be amended from time to time by the 

Company in its sole discretion. 

  

6. COMPANY DATA 

 

6.1. The Company shall own all right, title and interest in and to all of the Company Data that is not personal 

data and shall have sole responsibility for the legality, reliability, integrity, accuracy and quality of all such 

Company Data. 

 

7. THIRD PARTY PROVIDERS   

  

7.1. The Parties agree that the Subscriber may, obtain Energy and certain services, software or equipment 

from third party suppliers, in which case the Subscriber does so solely at its own risk. The Company makes 

no representation, warranty or commitment and shall have no liability or obligation whatsoever in 

relation to the content or use of any such third party providers or any contract entered into by the 

Subscriber with any such third party. Any contract entered into with a third party provider is between the 

Subscriber and the relevant third party, and not the Company. The Company does not endorse or approve 

any third party provider, service, software or equipment nor the content of any communication by any 

third party provider. 

  

8. CHARGES AND PAYMENT   

 

8.1. As consideration for the provision of Services by the Company, the Subscriber shall pay the Service Fees 

to the Company in accordance with this Clause 9 and Schedule 2. Time of payment shall be of the essence. 

  

8.2. The Company may at any time, without notice to the Subscriber, set off any liability of the Subscriber to 

the Company against any liability of the Company to the Subscriber, whether either liability is present or 

future, liquidated or unliquidated, and whether or not either liability arises under this Agreement. If the 

liabilities to be set off are expressed in different currencies, the Company may convert either liability at 

a market rate of exchange for the purpose of set-off. Any exercise by the Company of its rights under this 



 

 

clause shall not limit or affect any other rights or remedies available to it under this Agreement or 

otherwise. 

 

8.3. If the Company has not received payment on the due date for payment, and without prejudice to any 

other rights and remedies of the Company: 

  

8.3.1. the Company may, subject to Applicable Law and without liability to the Subscriber, exercise any 

of its rights under Clause 13; and 

  

8.3.2. interest shall accrue on a daily basis on such due amounts at an annual rate equal to [1.5]% over 

[LIBOR][EURIBOR][the then current base lending rate of [the Company’s bankers in the UK] from 

time to time, commencing on the due date and continuing until fully paid, whether before or after 

and court judgment. 

  

8.4. All amounts and fees stated or referred to in this Agreement: 

  

8.4.1. shall be payable in pounds sterling; 

  

8.4.2. are, subject to Clause 13.3.2, non-cancellable and non-refundable; 

  

8.4.3. are exclusive of value added tax, which shall be added to the Company’s invoice(s) at the 
appropriate rate. 

  

8.5. For the avoidance of doubt, unless otherwise specified in this Agreement, the Subscriber is responsible 

for paying the Energy Provider(s) for the supply of the Energy, and any payments due in respect of the 

Subscriber’s obligations under Clause 3. 

  

9. PROPRIETARY RIGHTS 

   

9.1. The Subscriber acknowledges and agrees that the Company and/or its licensors own all Intellectual 

Property Rights in the Services, Software, Equipment and Company Data. Except as expressly stated 

herein, this Agreement does not grant the Subscriber any rights to, under or in, any Intellectual Property 

Rights in respect of the Services, Software, Company Data or the Equipment. 

 

9.2. The Company confirms that it has all the rights in relation to the Services, Software, Equipment and 

Company Data that are necessary to grant all the rights it purports to grant under, and in accordance 

with, the terms of this Agreement. 

 

9.3. The Subscriber hereby grants to the Company a perpetual, worldwide, irrevocable, transferrable, royalty 

free licence (with the right to sub-licence) the right to access, view, use, store, process, disclose, 

distribute, resell, combine, aggregate, adapt and transfer and create derivative works from the Energy 

Savings Data for any purpose, including but not limited to publicising the Energy Savings delivered 

through the use of and investment in the Services. 

 

9.4. Title to, and the risk of loss of, the Equipment shall remain with the Company at all times during the Term. 

Title and property in all substitutions, replacements, renewals made in or to the Equipment shall vest in 

the Company immediately upon installation.  

 

10. CONFIDENTIALITY 

   

10.1. Each party may be given access to Confidential Information from the other party in order to perform 

its obligations under this Agreement. A party’s Confidential Information shall not be deemed to 
include information that: 

 



 

 

10.1.1. is or becomes publicly known other than through any act or omission of the receiving party; 

  

10.1.2. was in the other party’s lawful possession before the disclosure; 
  

10.1.3. is lawfully disclosed to the receiving party by a third party without restriction on disclosure; 

or 

  

10.1.4. is independently developed by the receiving party, which independent development can be 

shown by written evidence. 

  

10.2. Subject to Clause 10.4, each party shall hold the other’s Confidential Information in confidence and 
not make the other’s Confidential Information available to any third party, or use the other’s 
Confidential Information for any purpose other than the implementation of this Agreement. 

  

10.3. Each party shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that the other’s Confidential Information to which 
it has access is not disclosed or distributed by its employees or agents in violation of the terms of this 

Agreement. 

  

10.4. A party may disclose Confidential Information to the extent such Confidential Information is required 

to be disclosed by law, by any governmental or other regulatory authority or by a court or other 

authority of competent jurisdiction, provided that, to the extent it is legally permitted to do so, it gives 

the other party as much notice of such disclosure as possible and, where notice of disclosure is not 

prohibited and is given in accordance with this Clause 10.4, it takes into account the reasonable 

requests of the other party in relation to the content of such disclosure. 

  

10.5. The Subscriber acknowledges that the Company Data, details of the Services, and the results of any 

performance tests of the Services, constitute the Company’s Confidential Information. 
  

10.6. The Company acknowledges that the Subscriber Data is the Confidential Information of the Subscriber. 

  

10.7. No party shall make, or permit any person to make, any public announcement concerning this 

Agreement without the prior written consent of the other parties (such consent not to be 

unreasonably withheld or delayed), except as required by law, any governmental or regulatory 

authority (including, without limitation, any relevant securities exchange), any court or other authority 

of competent jurisdiction. 

  

10.8. The above provisions of this Clause 10 shall survive termination of this Agreement, however arising. 

  

11. INDEMNITY   

 

11.1. The Subscriber shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Company against claims, actions, 

proceedings, losses, damages, expenses and costs (including without limitation court costs and 

reasonable legal fees) arising out of or in connection with the Subscriber’s use of the Services, 

Software, Equipment, and/or Company Data otherwise than in accordance with the provisions of this 

Agreement and any breach of the Subscriber’s obligations under Clause 3 and 10.5, provided that: 

 

11.1.1. the Subscriber is given prompt notice of any such claim; 

  

11.1.2. the Company provides reasonable co-operation to the Subscriber in the defence and 

settlement of such claim, at the Subscriber’s expense; and 

  

11.1.3. the Subscriber is given sole authority to defend or settle the claim. 

  

11.2. The Company shall defend indemnify and hold harmless the Subscriber, its officers, directors and 



 

 

employees against any claim that the Subscriber’s use of the Services, Software, Equipment, or 

Company Data in accordance with this Agreement infringes any United Kingdom Intellectual Property 

Right, and shall indemnify the Subscriber for any amounts awarded against the Subscriber in judgment 

or settlement of such claims, provided that: 

  

11.2.1. the Company is given prompt notice of any such claim; 

  

11.2.2. the Subscriber provides reasonable co-operation to the Company in the defence and 

settlement of such claim, at the Company’s expense; and 

  

11.2.3. the Company is given sole authority to defend or settle the claim. 

  

11.3. In the defence or settlement of any claim under the indemnity in Clause 11.2, the Company may 

procure the right for the Subscriber to continue using the Services, replace or modify the Services so 

that they become non-infringing or, if such remedies are not reasonably available, terminate this 

Agreement on 30 days’ notice to the Subscriber without any additional liability or obligation to pay 

liquidated damages or other additional costs to the Subscriber. 

  

11.4. In no event shall the Company, its employees, agents and sub-contractors be liable to the Subscriber 

to the extent that the alleged infringement under Clause 11.2 is based on: 

  

11.4.1. a modification of the Services by anyone other than the Company; or 

  

11.4.2. the Subscriber’s use of the Services in a manner contrary to the instructions given to the 
Subscriber by the Company; or 

  

11.4.3. the Subscriber’s use of the Services after notice of the alleged or actual infringement from the 
Company or any appropriate authority. 

  

11.5. The provisions of Clauses 11.2, 11.3, 11.4 and Clause 12.4.2 state the Subscriber’s sole and exclusive 
rights and remedies, and the Company’s (including the Company’s employees’, agents’ and sub-

contractors’) entire obligations and liability, for infringement of any patent, copyright, trade mark, 

database right or right of confidentiality. 

  

12. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY   

 

12.1. Subject to the provisions of this Clause 12, each party shall only be liable for direct loss or damage 

arising directly from its own breach of contract, negligence or wilful misconduct.  

 

12.2. Except as expressly and specifically provided in this Agreement: 

 

12.2.1. having agreed to the calculation of Energy Savings, the Subscriber assumes sole responsibility 

for the benefits and other results obtained from its receipt and use of the Services;  

 

12.2.2. the Company shall have no liability for any damage caused by errors or omissions in any 

information or instructions provided to the Company by the Subscriber in connection with the 

Services, or any actions taken by the Company at the Subscriber’s direction; 
  

12.2.3. all warranties, representations, conditions and all other terms of any kind whatsoever implied 

by statute or common law are, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, excluded 

from this Agreement; and 

  

12.2.4. the Services are provided to the Subscriber on an “as is” basis. 
  



 

 

12.3. Nothing in this Agreement excludes the liability of either party: 

  

12.3.1. for death or personal injury caused by that party’s negligence; or 

  

12.3.2. for fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation. 

  

12.4. Subject to Clause 12.3: 

  

12.4.1. the Company shall not be liable whether in tort (including for negligence or breach of statutory 

duty), contract, misrepresentation, restitution or otherwise for any loss of profits, loss of 

business, depletion of goodwill and/or similar losses or loss or corruption of data or 

information, or pure economic loss, or for any special, indirect or consequential loss, costs, 

damages, charges or expenses however arising under this Agreement; and 

  

12.4.2. the Company’s total aggregate liability in contract (including in respect of the indemnity at 
Clause 11.2), tort (including negligence or breach of statutory duty), misrepresentation, 

restitution or otherwise, arising in connection with the performance or contemplated 

performance of this Agreement shall be limited to the total Service Fees paid for the User 

Subscriptions during the 12 months immediately preceding the date on which the claim arose. 

  

13. TERM AND TERMINATION   

 

13.1. This Agreement shall, unless otherwise terminated as provided in this Clause 13, commence on the 

Effective Date and shall continue for the Term, unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the 

provisions of this Agreement. 

  

13.2. Without affecting any other right or remedy available to it and subject to the provisions of Clause 13.4, 

the Company may suspend the provision of all or part of the Services if: 

 

13.2.1. the Subscriber commits a material breach of any term of this Agreement (including any failure 

to pay any amount due and payable) which breach is irremediable or (if such breach is 

remediable) fails to remedy that breach within a period of 30 days after being notified in 

writing to do so; 

  

13.2.2. the Subscriber repeatedly breaches any of the terms of this Agreement in such a manner as 

to reasonably justify the opinion that its conduct is inconsistent with it having the intention or 

ability to give effect to the terms of this Agreement. 

 

13.3. Without affecting any other right or remedy available to it and subject to the provisions of Clause 13.4, 

either party may terminate this Agreement with immediate effect by giving written notice to the other 

party if: 

  

13.3.1. the other party commits a material breach of any term of this Agreement (including any failure 

to pay any amount due and payable) which breach is irremediable or (if such breach is 

remediable) fails to remedy that breach within a period of 30 days after being notified in 

writing to do so; 

  

13.3.2. the other party repeatedly breaches any of the terms of this Agreement in such a manner as 

to reasonably justify the opinion that its conduct is inconsistent with it having the intention or 

ability to give effect to the terms of this Agreement; 

 

13.3.3. the other party suspends, or threatens to suspend, payment of its debts or is unable to pay its 

debts as they fall due or admits inability to pay its debts or is deemed unable to pay its debts 

within the meaning of section 123 of the Insolvency Act 1986, as if the words “it is proved to 



 

 

the satisfaction of the court” did not appear in sections 123(1)(e) or 123(2) of the Insolvency 
Act 1986; 

  

13.3.4. a petition is filed, a notice is given, a resolution is passed, or an order is made, for or in 

connection with the winding up of that other party other than for the sole purpose of a 

scheme for a solvent amalgamation of that other party with one or more other companies or 

the solvent reconstruction of that other party; 

  

13.3.5. an application is made to court, or an order is made, for the appointment of an administrator, 

or if a notice of intention to appoint an administrator is given or if an administrator is 

appointed, over the other party; 

  

13.3.6. the holder of a qualifying floating charge over the assets of that other party has become 

entitled to appoint or has appointed an administrative receiver; 

  

13.3.7. a person becomes entitled to appoint a receiver over the assets of the other party or a receiver 

is appointed over the assets of the other party; 

 

13.3.8. a creditor or encumbrancer of the other party attaches or takes possession of, or a distress, 

execution, sequestration or other such process is levied or enforced on or sued against, the 

whole or any part of the other party’s assets and such attachment or process is not discharged 

within 14 days; 

  

13.3.9. any event occurs, or proceeding is taken, with respect to the other party in any jurisdiction 

to which it is subject that has an effect equivalent or similar to any of the events mentioned 

in Clause 13.2.3 to Clause 13.2.8 (inclusive); or 

  

13.3.10. the other party suspends or ceases, or threatens to suspend or cease, carrying on all or a 

substantial part of its business. 

  

13.4. The Company may in its sole and absolute discretion notify the Subscriber of the appointment of a 

Step-in Party (whether obliged to do so in connection with any finance arrangement or otherwise). In 

the event that the Company has notified the Subscriber of any Step-in Party:  

 

13.4.1. the Subscriber shall promptly inform the Step-in Party in writing, by registered letter with 

acknowledgment of receipt, of all contractual events or breaches which could lead to 

suspension, cancellation, termination, annulment or any other form of dissolution, for any 

reason whatsoever, of this Agreement;  

 

13.4.2. such termination of this Agreement and/or suspension of the contractual obligations 

notified under Clause 13.4.1 shall only be possible [30 (thirty)] calendar days after the 

notification to the Step-in Party (hereafter the “Step-in Period”) and in each case only 

where this Agreement provides for such possibility; 

 

13.4.3. The Step-in Party (or a third party assigned by the Step-in Party) shall be authorized to, in 

its sole discretion and without any obligations in this respect, and in accordance with the 

provisions of this clause, remedy the breach or acquire the entire contractual position 

(both active and passive) of the Company and become a party to this Agreement, by means 

of a unilateral statement which shall be addressed to Company and the Subscriber and 

sent before the ending of the Step-in Period; 

 

13.4.4. The Step-in Party shall also benefit from all the rights available or attributed to the 

Company under this Agreement; 

 



 

 

13.5. Clause 13.4 is a provision for the benefit of a third party. As from acceptance by the Step-in Party of 

this provision, this provision will be deemed to create a direct contractual relationship between the 

Subscriber and the Step-in Party, that can be independently enforced by the Step-in Party and that 

will not be affected by any non-compliance by the Company with this Agreement or any bankruptcy, 

judicial reorganisation or any other insolvency proceedings in respect of the Company. 

 

13.6. During the period from the Company’s receipt of any valid notice of termination by the Subscriber 

under clause 13.3 until the termination of the Agreement pursuant to that notice: 

 

13.6.1. if the Subscriber wishes to appoint a replacement supplier, the Company shall offer 

reasonable assistance in transitioning to any such replacement supplier;  

 

13.6.2. the Subscriber shall, at the Company’s sole and absolute discretion:  

(a) deliver up the Equipment at such address to the Company, its representative(s) or such 

third party as the Company requires; or  

 

(b) allow the Company or its representatives access to the Premises or any premises where 

the Equipment is located for the purpose of:  

 

(i) removing the Equipment; or  

 

(ii) arranging the sale and transition of the Equipment to any replacement 

supplier at the Premises; and 

 

13.6.3. the Subscriber shall promptly pay to the Company any undisputed invoices which are 

outstanding at the date on which termination takes effect. 

 

13.7. During the period from the Subscriber’s receipt of any valid notice of termination by the Company 
under clause 13.3 until the termination of the Agreement pursuant to that notice, the Subscriber shall, 

at the Company’s sole and absolute discretion:  

 

(a) deliver up the Equipment at such address to the Company, its representative(s) or such 

third party as the Company requires; or  

 

(b) allow the Company or its representatives access to the Premises or any premises where 

the Equipment is located for the purpose of:  

 

(i) removing the Equipment; or  

 

(ii) arranging the sale and transition of the Equipment to any third party at the 

Premises; and 

 

(c) the Subscriber shall promptly pay to the Company any undisputed invoices which are 

outstanding at the date on which termination takes effect. 

 

13.8. On termination of this Agreement for any reason: 

  

13.8.1. all licences granted under this Agreement shall immediately terminate and the Subscriber 

shall immediately cease all use of the Services; 

   

13.8.2. the Company may destroy or otherwise dispose of any of the Subscriber Data in its possession;  

 

13.8.3. the Subscriber may destroy or otherwise dispose of any of the Company Data in its possession;  



 

 

 

13.8.4. the Minimum Savings Guarantee shall terminate and cease to apply; and 

  

13.8.5. any rights, remedies, obligations or liabilities of the parties that have accrued up to the date 

of termination, including the right to claim damages in respect of any breach of the Agreement 

which existed at or before the date of termination shall not be affected or prejudiced. 

  

14.  FORCE MAJEURE   

  

Neither party shall have any liability to the other party under this Agreement if it is prevented from or delayed 

in performing its obligations under this Agreement, or from carrying on its business, by acts, events, omissions 

or accidents beyond its reasonable control, including, without limitation, strikes, lock-outs or other industrial 

disputes, failure of a utility service or transport or telecommunications network, act of God, war, riot, civil 

commotion, malicious damage, compliance with any law or governmental order, rule, regulation or direction, 

accident, breakdown of plant or machinery, fire, flood, storm or default of suppliers or sub-contractors, 

provided that the Subscriber is notified of such an event and its expected duration. 

  

15. VARIATION   

  

No variation of this Agreement shall be effective unless it is in writing and signed by the parties (or their 

authorised representatives). 

  

16. WAIVER   

  

No failure or delay by a party to exercise any right or remedy provided under this Agreement or by law shall 

constitute a waiver of that or any other right or remedy, nor shall it prevent or restrict the further exercise of 

that or any other right or remedy. No single or partial exercise of such right or remedy shall prevent or restrict 

the further exercise of that or any other right or remedy. 

  

17. RIGHTS AND REMEDIES   

  

Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, the rights and remedies provided under this Agreement are 

in addition to, and not exclusive of, any rights or remedies provided by law. 

  

18. SEVERANCE   

 

18.1. If any provision or part-provision of this Agreement is or becomes invalid, illegal or unenforceable, it 

shall be deemed deleted, but that shall not affect the validity and enforceability of the rest of this 

Agreement. 

 

18.2. If any provision or part-provision of this Agreement is deemed deleted under Clause 18.1 the parties 

shall negotiate in good faith to agree a replacement provision that, to the greatest extent possible, 

achieves the intended commercial result of the original provision. 

  

19. ENTIRE AGREEMENT   

 

19.1. This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement between the parties and supersedes and 

extinguishes all previous Agreements, promises, assurances, warranties, representations and 

understandings between them, whether written or oral, relating to its subject matter. 

 

19.2. Each party acknowledges that in entering into this Agreement it does not rely on, and shall have no 

remedies in respect of, any statement, representation, assurance or warranty (whether made 

innocently or negligently) that is not set out in this Agreement. 

  



 

 

20. ASSIGNMENT   

 

20.1. The Subscriber shall not, without the prior written consent of the Company, assign, transfer, charge, 

any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement. 

 

20.2. The Company may at any time assign, transfer, charge, sub-contract or deal in any other manner with 

all or any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement. 

  

21. NO PARTNERSHIP OR AGENCY   

  

Nothing in this Agreement is intended to or shall operate to create a partnership between the parties, or 

authorise either party to act as agent for the other, and neither party shall have the authority to act in the 

name or on behalf of or otherwise to bind the other in any way (including, but not limited to, the making of 

any representation or warranty, the assumption of any obligation or liability and the exercise of any right or 

power). 

  

22. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS   

  

The Company may exercise its rights under Clause 20.2 (whether for securitisation or otherwise) or under 

Clause 13.4 in relation to a Step-in Party. If the Company makes use of this right, the Step-in Party shall benefit 

from the rights granted to it under this Agreement. Save as provided in Clause 13.4, 20.2 and Clause 22, this 

Agreement is not intended to confer any benefit on any person or party who is not a party to this Agreement, 

and no such third party shall have any right to enforce this Agreement pursuant to the Contracts (Rights of 

Third Parties) Act 1999. 

  

23. NOTICES   

 

23.1. Any notice required to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be delivered by 

hand or sent by pre-paid first-class post or recorded delivery post to the other party at its address set 

out in this Agreement, or such other address as may have been notified by that party for such 

purposes, or sent by fax to the other party’s fax number as set out in this Agreement. 

 

23.2. A notice delivered by hand shall be deemed to have been received when delivered (or if delivery is 

not in business hours, at 9 am on the first business day following delivery). A correctly addressed 

notice sent by pre-paid first-class post or recorded delivery post shall be deemed to have been 

received at the time at which it would have been delivered in the normal course of post. A notice sent 

by fax shall be deemed to have been received at the time of transmission (as shown by the timed 

printout obtained by the sender). 

  

24. GOVERNING LAW   

  

This Agreement and any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with it or its subject matter or 

formation (including non-contractual disputes or claims) shall be governed by and construed in accordance 

with the law of England and Wales. 

  

25. JURISDICTION   

  

Each party irrevocably agrees that the courts of England and Wales shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle 

any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with this Agreement or its subject matter or formation 

(including non-contractual disputes or claims). 

 

26. FURTHER ASSURANCE   

  

At its own expense, each party shall, and shall use all reasonable endeavours to procure that any necessary 



 

 

third party shall, promptly execute and deliver such documents and perform such acts as may reasonably be 

required for the purpose of giving full effect to this Agreement. 

  

27. COUNTERPARTS   

 

27.1. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when executed and 

delivered shall constitute a duplicate original, but all the counterparts shall together constitute the 

one agreement. 

 

27.2. Transmission of the executed signature page of a counterpart of this Agreement by e-mail (in PDF, 

JPEG or other agreed format) with a copy of the body of this Agreement (in PDF, JPEG or other agreed 

format) shall take effect as delivery of an executed counterpart of this Agreement. If either method of 

delivery is adopted, without prejudice to the validity of the Agreement thus made, each party shall 

provide the others with the original of such counterpart as soon as reasonably possible thereafter. 

 

27.3. No counterpart shall be effective until each party has executed and delivered at least one counterpart. 

  

This has been entered into on the date stated at the beginning of it. 

  

 

Signed by [NAME OF DIRECTOR] for 

and on behalf of [NAME OF 

COMPANY] 

 

  

 

.................... 

Director 

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

Signed by [NAME OF DIRECTOR] for 

and on behalf of [NAME OF 

SUBSCRIBER] 

 

  

 

.................... 

Director 

 

 

  



 

 

 

SCHEDULE 1 

SERVICES, EQUIPMENT, PREMISES, TERM 

 

1. SERVICES 

 

[describe] 

 

2. EQUIPMENT 

 

[Define Equipment by list, reference to the [•] Plan and/or as such Equipment as is adequate to deliver a 

certain level of [•] efficiency/efficacy in [•] per Watt (lm/W) in the Premises or relevant part of the Premises] 

 

3. PREMISES 

 

[Address or relevant portion of premises at such address] 

 

 

4. TERM 

 

[Three (3)][Five (5)] years from the Effective Date. 

 

[Note: Certain accounting or statistical rules might only apply to, or require, a contract with a longer duration] 

 

  



 

 

SCHEDULE 2 

SERVICE FEES 

 

 

1.  SERVICE FEES   

  

The Service Fees shall be an amount equal to the Subscriber’s Energy savings in each calendar month during 

the Term resulting from the Subscriber’s use of the Services (“Energy Savings”), as calculated in accordance 

with the performance and measurement protocol in the [•] Plan by:  

 

(a) for each calendar [month] in the first Contract Year, subtracting the Actual Monthly Energy Cost from the 

Baseline Monthly Energy Cost, for the relevant calendar month; and 

 

(b) for each calendar [month] in each successive Contract Year after the first Contract Year, subtracting the 

Actual Monthly Energy Cost from the Adjusted Baseline Monthly Energy Cost. 

 

For the purposes of this Schedule 2 and the performance and measurement sections of the [•] Plan, the 

following capitalised terms have the following meaning: 

 

Actual Monthly  

Energy Used the amount of Energy used to provide the [•] for the [•] Plan during the calendar 

month in question, plus the pro-rated Grid Fee; 

 

Actual Monthly 

Energy Cost means the cost that was incurred by the Subscriber for the Actual Monthly Energy 

Used at the Actual Monthly Energy Price plus any Pro-rated Grid Fee; 

 

Actual Monthly 

Energy Price means the price charged by the Energy Provider to the Subscriber for the Actual 

Monthly Energy Used; 

 

Adjusted Baseline 

Monthly Energy Cost means the cost of the Baseline Monthly Energy Used expressed in the Actual Monthly 

Energy Price; 

 

Baseline Energy   

Month means, in respect of a calendar month in any Contract Year, the corresponding 

calendar month during [the Baseline Energy Year][each of the [three] ([3]) preceding 

the Baseline Energy Years]; 

 

Baseline Energy  

Year(s) means latest 12 month period preceding the Effective Date for which Energy 

consumption and billing records are available. 

 

 

Baseline Monthly 

Energy Cost  means the cost of the Baseline Monthly Energy Used expressed in the Baseline 

Monthly Energy Price, plus any pro-rated Grid Fee at the rate prevailing in the Baseline 

Energy Month; 

 

Baseline Monthly  

Energy Price means the price(s) used to calculate the Monthly Energy Baseline Cost; 

 

 



 

 

Baseline Monthly 

Energy Used means the amount of Energy used to provide the [•] for the [•] Plan during the Energy 

Baseline Month; 

 

Grid Fee any fee or charge paid to the Energy Provider in relation to the general expense of 

connecting to and running the relevant national, regional and/or local Energy grid or 

network (e.g. transmission charges such as the ("Transmission Network Use of 

System" (TNUoS) in the UK); 

 

Pro-rated Grid Fee the proportion of Grid Fee that can be attributed to the Energy used to provide [•] for 

the [•] Plan during the period covered by the Grid Fee, calculated by using the same 

proportion as the amount of Energy used to provide the [•] for the [•] Plan bears to 

the amount of Energy used for the whole Premises in which the [•] Plan is located. 

 

For the avoidance of doubt, the amount of Energy used shall be established through measurement of Energy 

in watts for each [•] fitting type; and the measured wattage of each [•] fitting type multiplied by quantity of 

that type; multiplied by the operational hours. 

 

2. Minimum Savings Guarantee 

 

For the purposes of this Schedule 2, the following capitalised terms have the following meaning: 

 

Minimum Energy 

Savings [specify a minimum reduction in volume of energy consumption (energy consumption 

savings) in units of energy (e.g. kWh); or in monetary terms (e.g. a reduction in energy 

consumption in EUR at assumed price for the relevant type of energy or output (e.g. 

[Lumens per Watt (lm/W), [•]) 

 

For the purpose of this Agreement (and in particular Clauses 2.6, 2.7 and this Schedule), the Minimum 

Energy Savings shall be recalculated to take account of any change in: 

• The Premises; 

• Energy Price; 

• The proportion of the Premises occupied or vacated by the Subscriber, or covered by the [•] Plan; 

• The [•] Plan; and/or 

• Prepayment or late payment of any amount. 

 

[All methods of measuring savings including engineered calculations, metering, equipment run times, pre- and 

post-installation measurements, etc. should be explicitly described for all equipment installed.] 

  

  



 

 

 

SCHEDULE 3 

SUPPORT SERVICE LEVELS 

1. INTERPRETATION 

This Schedule 3 shall set out the Support Services to be provided by Company under this Agreement. 

The definitions used in the Agreement shall apply to any capitalised terms that are used but not defined in this 

Schedule.  The following additional definitions and rules of interpretation shall apply in this Schedule. 

1.1 Definitions: 

Commercially Reasonable Efforts: the same degree of priority and diligence with which Company meets the 

support needs of its other similar customers. 

Contact List: a current list of Company contacts and telephone numbers to enable Subscriber to escalate its 

Support Requests, including: 

• the first person to contact; and 

• the persons in successively more qualified or experienced positions to provide the support sought.  

 

Subscriber Cause: any of the following causes: 

• any improper use, misuse or unauthorised alteration of the Services by Subscriber;  

• any use of the Services by in a manner inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement; 

• the use by Subscriber of any hardware or software not provided by Company or approved by Company 

for use by Subscriber in connection with the Services. 

 

Fault: any failure of the Services or Equipment referred to in the Service Level Table. 

Service Desk Support: any support provided by help desk technicians or an automated support and response 

service.  

Out-of-scope Services: either of the following services: 

• any services provided by Company in connection with any apparent problem regarding the Services or 

Equipment reasonably determined by Company not to have been caused by a Fault, but rather by a 

Subscriber Cause or a cause outside Company's control (including any investigational work resulting in 

such a determination). 

 

Service Levels: the service level responses and response times referred to in the Service Level Table. 

Service Level Table: the table set out in paragraph 5. 

Solution: either of the following outcomes: 

• correction of a Fault; or  

• a workaround in relation to a Fault (including a reversal of any changes to the Services if deemed 

appropriate by Company) that is reasonably acceptable to Subscriber. 

 

Support Hours: the service desk will be operational [9am – 5pm] UK Monday to Friday excluding public holidays. 

Support Request: request made by Subscriber in accordance with this Schedule for support in relation to the 

Services, including correction of a Fault. 

2. SUPPORT SERVICES 

2.1 During the Term, Company shall perform the Support Services during the Support Hours, in accordance 

with the Service Levels. 



 

 

2.2 As part of the Support Services, Company shall: 

• use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to correct all Faults notified under paragraph 4; and 

• provide technical support for the Services in accordance with the Service Levels.  

 

2.3 Company may reasonably determine that any services are Out-of-scope Services. If Company makes 

any such determination, it shall promptly notify Subscriber of that determination. 

2.4 Subscriber acknowledges that Company is not obliged to provide Out-of-scope Services. 

3. FEES 

3.1 The provision of Support Services during the Term shall be included in the Service Fees. 

4. SUBMITTING SUPPORT REQUESTS AND ACCESS 

4.1 The Subscriber may request Support Services by way of a Support Request. 

4.2 Each Support Request shall include a description of the problem and the start time of the incident. 

4.3 The Subscriber shall provide Company with: 

• prompt notice of any Faults; and 

• such output and other data, documents, information, assistance and (subject to compliance with all 

Subscriber's security requirements notified to Company in writing) access to the Equipment and the 

Premises and personnel as are reasonably necessary to assist Company to respond to the relevant 

Support Request. 

 

4.4 The Subscriber shall provide such access promptly, provided that Company complies with all the 

Subscriber's security requirements and other policies and procedures relating to contractors entering and working 

on the Premises notified to Company. 

5. SERVICE LEVELS 

5.1 Company shall: 

• prioritise all Support Requests based on its reasonable assessment of the severity level of the problem 

reported; and 

• respond to all Support Requests in accordance with the responses and response times specified in the 

table set out below: 

 

Severit

y level 

of Fault 

Definition Service Level response and 

response time 

Credit if Missed 

1 Business Critical Failures: An 

error in, or failure of, the 

Services or Equipment that: 

Level 1 Response: 

Acknowledgment of receipt of a 

Support Request within 120 minutes. 

Level 2 Response: 

Company shall: 

[1]% of the monthly 

Services Fee for each 

extra hour subject to a 

maximum of [100]% 

of the relevant 

monthly Service Fee  



 

 

a) materially impacts the 

operations of the Subscriber's 

business;2 

b) prevents necessary 

work from being done; or  

c) disables major functions 

of the Services from being used. 

a) restore the Services to a state 

that allows the Subscriber to 

continue to use substantially all of 

the Services within 24 hours after the 

Level 1 Response time has elapsed; 

and 

b) exercise Commercially 

Reasonable Efforts until full 

restoration of usage of the Services is 

provided. 

Level 3 Response: 

Company shall work on the problem 

continuously and implement a 

Solution within [5] business days of 

receipt of the Support Request. 

If Company delivers a Solution by way 

of a workaround reasonably 

acceptable to the Subscriber, the 

severity level assessment shall 

reduce to a severity level 2 or lower. 

 
2 Should insert specific •/• levels 

 



 

 

2 System Defect with 

Workaround:  

a) a critical error in the 

Services or Equipment for 

which a work- around exists; or  

b) a non-critical error in 

the Services or Equipment that 

affects the operations of the 

Subscriber's business. 

Level 1 Response: 

Acknowledgment of receipt of a 

Support Request within 24 hours. 

Level 2 Response: 

Company shall, within [5] Business 

Days after the Level 1 Response time 

has elapsed, provide: 

a) an emergency fix or 

workaround; and/or 

b) a temporary fix or workaround, 

which allows the Subscriber to 

continue to use substantially all of 

the Services in all material respects. 

Level 3 Response: 

Company shall provide a permanent 

Fault correction as soon as 

practicable and no later than [20] 

Business Days after Company’s 
receipt of the Support Request. 

[0.5]% of the relevant 

monthly Service Fee 

for each extra hour 

subject to a maximum 

of [30]% of the 

relevant monthly 

Services Fee  

3 Minor Error:  

An isolated or minor error in 

the Services or Equipment that: 

a) does not significantly 

affect the use of the Services; or 

b) does not materially 

impact the Subscriber's 

business. 

Level 1 Response: 

Acknowledgment of receipt of the 

Support Request within 48 hours. 

Level 2 Response: 

Company shall provide a permanent 

Fault correction within 90 Business 

Days after the Level 1 Response time 

has elapsed. 

[0.3]% of the relevant 

monthly Service Fee 

for each extra hour 

subject to a maximum 

of [20]% of the 

relevant monthly 

Service Fee per 

incident 

5.2 The parties may, on a case-by-case basis, agree in writing to a reasonable extension of the Service Level 

response times. 

5.3 Company shall give the Subscriber regular updates of the nature and status of its efforts to correct any 

Fault. 

6. OTHER REMEDIES 

If a Solution is not provided within the relevant Service Level response time, the Subscriber may escalate the 

Support Request to the parties' respective relationship managers as identified in the Agreement. 

  

  



 

 

SCHEDULE 4 

MANDATORY POLICIES 

 

[LIST AND/OR ATTACH THE MANDATORY POLICIES HERE] 

  

The Mandatory Policies are: 

  

• [Security Policy] 

• [Occupational Health and Safety Policy] 

• [Data and Privacy Policy] 

• [Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery] 

 

  



 

 

SCHEDULE 5 

[•] PLAN 

 

 

[To be inserted, or a reference to location where kept] 

 


